FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 29 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JEANIE H. MELBOURNE,

Petitioner,

v.

case no. <u>86,029</u>

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

On Notice To Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction To Review A Decision Of The Fifth District Court Of Appeal

MS. MELBOURNE'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

TERRENCE E. KEHOE LAW OFFICES OF TERRENCE E. KEHOE Tinker Building 18 West Pine Street Orlando, Florida 32801 407-422-4147 407-849-6059 (FAX)

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the Petitioner, JEANIE H. MELBOURNE, will be referred to as "Ms. Melbourne. The Respondent, STATE OF FLORIDA, will be referred to as the "state." The Appendix attached to this brief will be referred to as "App.," followed by the appropriate page number. The record on appeal will be referred to by the volume number, followed by the appropriate page number. Exhibits will be referred to as in the trial court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

On June 12, 1992, Ms. Melbourne was involved in a two-car accident which resulted in two deaths and another person being seriously injured (VI/212-13). On October 29, 1992, the state filed a five count information charging her with DUI manslaughter (Counts II and IV), vehicle homicide (Counts I and III), and DUI with serious bodily injury (Count V) (VI/207-11). The trial court entered judgments of acquittal at the close of the state's case in chief as to Counts I and III (VII/553; TVI/817). After a four day jury trial, the jury convicted Ms. Melbourne of Counts II, IV and V as charged (VIII/569-71; TVI/1031). She was sentenced to twelve years in the Department of Corrections on Counts II and IV and five years on Count V, all to run concurrently (V/198; VIII/659-65). Ms. Melbourne appealed her conviction, raising ten (10) issues on appeal. In an opinion dated April 21, 1995, the Fifth District affirmed the judgment and sentence, addressing three of the issues. Melbourne v. State, So.2d (Fla. 5th DCA 4/21/95) [20 Fla. L.

Weekly D975].

The first issue addressed the following peremptory challenge by the state:

Mr. Bressler: We'd also strike number 19, your honor.

(state)

Mr. Mason: Mr. Dewey Wells, the black man, I would raise (defense) a Baxter¹ Johans challenge, J O H A N S. He's

a black man, number 19.

Ms. Munyon: The state has not stricken any black jurors at (state) all. The defense has stricken number ten,

Tillman, as well as juror number 13, which are

black.

The state accepted both of those jurors.

Mr. Bressler: Kelvin McCall was a black juror that the

defense struck.

Mr. Mason: I have nothing else to say.

The Court: Well, I don't see anything in this record to

indicate that there's any -- that the state in exercising this challenge to a black person is in any way acting in a discriminatory fashion, or singling out Mr. Wells because of his race

in its exercise of peremptory challenge.

The record should reflect that the defense has excused two peremptory challenges to excuse black males and exercised its exercise of the

--. (TII/269-70).

Under these facts, the Fifth District held that the trial court did conduct a <u>Neil</u> inquiry. Secondly, the court held that although not articulated by the state, the record itself clearly showed non-racial motivation for the strike.

This is a stenographical error. Counsel was referring to Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986).

The third issue addressed by the court was the propriety of multiple convictions arising out of a single act of DUI. There, the panel majority distinguished <u>Boutwell v. State</u>, 631 So.2d 1094 (Fla. 1994), and held that multiple convictions were proper. Chief Judge Harris dissented on this issue, and would have found a single violation of the core DUI offense.

On May 8, 1995, Ms. Melbourne filed a motion for rehearing or certification to the Florida Supreme Court (App. B). The Fifth District issued a corrected opinion which corrected typographical errors, but did not change the substance (App. A). The motion for rehearing or certification to the Florida Supreme Court was denied on June 1, 1995 (App. C). A notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court was filed on June 19, 1995.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE
FIFTH DISTRICT'S DECISION 1) EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY
CONFLICTS WITH NUMEROUS DECISIONS ON
THE ADEQUACY OF THE NEIL INQUIRY AND 2) EXPRESSLY
AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH OTHER APPELLATE DECISIONS
AND ALSO EXPRESSLY CONSTRUES STATE AND FEDERAL PROVISIONS
AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY ON THE ISSUE OF MULTIPLE CONVICTIONS
ARISING FROM A SINGLE ACT OF DUI

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, § 3(b)(3) to review cases which directly and expressly conflict with opinions of this Court or other district courts of appeal on the same question of law. This Court must exercise its jurisdiction and accept Ms. Melbourne's case for review because the Fifth District's opinion expressly and directly conflicts with numerous decisions on the

² The corrected opinion also bears the date of April 21, 1995, although it was issued on or about May 31, 1995.

Neil/Johans inquiry issue, and the double jeopardy issue. Additionally, this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, § 3(b)(3) to review cases which expressly construe provisions of the state or federal constitution. This case presents an important double jeopardy issue as to the legality of multiple convictions for a single act of DUI.

ARGUMENTS

I

THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION
BECAUSE THE FIFTH DISTRICT'S DECISION EXPRESSLY
AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH NUMEROUS DECISIONS
ON THE ADEQUACY OF THE NEIL INQUIRY.

As to the peremptory strike issue, the Fifth District's opinion conflicts with numerous other opinions of this Court and district courts of appeal. This Court should therefore accept jurisdiction.

In its opinion, the Fifth District misconstrued the law and the record when it found that the trial court <u>did</u> conduct a <u>Neil</u> inquiry (App. A, p. 2). A <u>Neil</u> inquiry <u>requires</u> the trial court to inquire of the party making the challenge as to a non-racial reason for the challenge. <u>See State v. Johans</u>, 613 So.2d 1319, 1321 (Fla. 1993) (trial court <u>must</u> conduct <u>Neil</u> inquiry; burden is on party exercising peremptory challenge to provide a race-neutral justification); <u>Reynolds v. State</u>, 576 So.2d 1300, 1301 (Fla. 1991) (trial court <u>must</u> inquire of state; state <u>must</u> provide reason for strike; trial court <u>must</u> evaluate reason provided by state); <u>State v. Slappy</u>, 522 So.2d 18, 22 (Fla.), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 487 U.S. 1219 (1988) ("<u>Neil</u> imposes upon the other party an obligation to rebut

the inference created when defense met its initial burden of persuasion. This rebuttal must consist of a 'clear and reasonably specific' racially neutral explanation of 'legitimate reasons' for the state's use of its peremptory challenge."); Stroud v. State, ____ So.2d ____ (Fla. 2d DCA 5/12/95) [20 Fla. L. Weekly D1155] (failure to provide non-racial reasons for strike required reversal); Jones v. State, 640 So.2d 1161, 1163 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) (state obligated to provide racially neutral explanation for strike).

In <u>Melbourne</u>, first, the trial court did not make any inquiry of the state. Second, and most importantly, the state did not provide any lawful explanation for its strike. It provided absolutely no non-racial reason for the challenge. Instead, both Ms. Munyon and Mr. Bressler merely pointed out that defense counsel had previously stricken black jurors. In other words, the prosecutors merely sought to justify their exclusion of Mr. Wells on the basis of the defense's prior exclusion of other blacks. Of course, prior exclusion of any other blacks by either party is irrelevant. <u>Slappy</u>, 522 So.2d at 21. If the striking party fails to provide a sufficient non-racial basis for the striking of any one juror, it matters not that other jurors were properly or improperly stricken.

The Fifth District bolstered its finding that an inquiry was conducted because the trial court issued a ruling (App. A, p. 3). Merely because the trial court issued a ruling does not mean that an adequate Neil inquiry was held. It merely means that the trial court chose to overlook the state's explicit Slappy burden and,

despite the state's failure to articulate a non-racial reason for the challenge, merely upheld the challenge. It is apparent from this record that neither the state nor the trial court was aware of the duty imposed upon it in the recent Florida Supreme Court decision of State v. Johans, 613 So.2d 1319, 1322 (Fla. 1993), much less prior cases such as Neil and Slappy.

In a further effort to bolster its decision on this point, the Fifth District has improperly determined that the record provides non-racial reasons for the strike, even though obviously not articulated by the state below. This appellate determination misses the point. The purpose of the Neil inquiry is to have the state articulate its basis for the strike. Ponder v. State, 646 So.2d 286, 287 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). It is not permissible to allow a trial court (in this case) or the defense counsel to speculate as to the state's basis for the strike. The purpose for the Johans rule is to require the party making the strike (the state) to articulate its basis so that the basis can be evaluated by the trial court, opposing counsel, and so that it exists in the record for appellate review. For an appellate court some two years after the fact to speculate as to possible reasons for the state's strike is obviously an attempt to uphold a conviction, while ignoring the plain dictates of Johans, Neil and the other cases cited above.

By twisting the record the Fifth District attempted to avoid the <u>Johans</u> mandate. In so doing the Fifth District has failed to apply the mandate set forth by this Court in <u>Slappy</u> and its progeny. This Court should accept jurisdiction because the Fifth

District's opinion expressly and directly conflicts with the cases cited above on this important issue of due process and equal protection.

II

THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE FIFTH
DISTRICT'S DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH OTHER
APPELLATE DECISIONS AND ALSO EXPRESSLY CONSTRUES STATE AND
FEDERAL PROVISIONS AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY ON THE ISSUE OF
MULTIPLE CONVICTIONS ARISING FROM A SINGLE ACT OF DUI

The Fifth District's decision upholding three convictions deriving from the core offense of a single act of DUI violates the constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy found in Art. I, §9, Fla. Const.; Amend. VI and XIV, U.S. Const.

Specifically, the decision expressly and directly conflicts with <u>Boutwell v. State</u>, 631 So.2d 1094 (Fla. 1994). There the defendant was charged with, and convicted of, four counts of driving while license suspended causing serious bodily injury. This Court ruled that where multiple injuries arose from a single driving episode, there could be only one conviction arising under § 322.34(3), Fla. Stat. (1991). The result in <u>Boutwell</u> would not have changed had death, rather than serious bodily injury, resulted to any of the four passengers. <u>Id.</u> at 1095.³

Like §322.34(3), the DUI statute provides that someone who operates a motor vehicle while either impaired or with an unlawful blood alcohol level and who causes death or serious bodily injury to another human being is guilty of an enhanced crime. The DUI

³ In contrast to <u>Boutwell</u>, the cases relied upon by the <u>Melbourne</u> majority (App. A, pp. 5-7), simply do not address the multiple DUI conviction issue.

statute does no more than enhance the penalty for DUI in cases where the driver causes death or serious bodily injury. Just as a single driving episode under §322.34(3) can result in only one (1) offense, so too a single driving episode under §316.193 can result in only one offense. The crux of the offense is driving under the influence of alcohol, like the crux of a § 322.34(3) offense is driving while a license is suspended.⁴

The Fifth District's opinion also conflicts with <u>Michie v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 632 So.2d 1106 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), where the Second District followed <u>Boutwell</u> and vacated one of two convictions for DUI arising out of a single act of driving.

Additionally, the Fifth District's decision conflicts with the recent decisions of this Court where the court has held that multiple convictions are not permitted where a defendant is convicted of simply aggravated forms of a single core offense. See e.g., Thompson v. State, 650 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1994); Sirmons v.

⁴ The Fifth District failed to acknowledge its legally and logically inconsistent opinion in <u>Hoag v. State</u>, 511 So.2d 401 (Fla. 5th DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 518 So.2d 1278 (Fla. 1987). In <u>Hoag</u>, the defendant was convicted in part of one count of leaving the scene of an accident with a death and four counts of leaving the scene of an accident with injuries. Finding that there was only one act of leaving the scene, the court vacated the four convictions for leaving the scene of an accident with injuries. <u>Id.</u> at 402. This is the same logic and statutory analysis that guided the <u>Boutwell</u> decision, but the Fifth District chose to ignore its own precedent.

State, 634 So.2d 153, 154 (Fla. 1994); Goodwin v. State, 634 So.2d
157 (Fla. 1994); Troedel v. State, 462 So.2d 392, 399 (Fla. 1984).5

This case presents important double jeopardy considerations arising out of a common fact pattern and should be reviewed on that basis alone. However, it is additionally clear that the Fifth District's opinion on this issue expressly and directly conflicts with those authorities cited above and therefore review should be granted on that ground also to clarify this issue for all courts.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities set forth in this brief, this Court must grant Ms. Melbourne's petition for review, and order briefing on the merits.