## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

のインー

JUL 20 19951

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By \_\_\_\_\_\_
Chief Deputy Clerk

JEANIE MELBOURNE,

Petitioner,

٧.

CASE NO. 86,029

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW
FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA
FIFTH DISTRICT

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION**

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #618550
#44 Seabreeze Blvd.
Fifth Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990

**COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT** 

# **

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This court should decline to accept jurisdiction where there is no express and direct conflict with other decisions. The district court in the instant case specifically determined that a *Neil* hearing had been conducted by the trial court. Further, respondent asserts that the issue pertaining to jury selection was waived in the trial court. Thus, even if the decision was in conflict, the issue should not even be reached by an appellate court. Likewise, the fact that the district court upheld Melbourne's convictions for two counts of DUI manslaughter and one count of DUI with serious bodily injury does not conflict with any other decisions.

#### **ARGUMENT**

THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO ACCEPT JURISDICTION BECAUSE THERE IS NO EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH A DECISION OF THIS COURT OR A DECISION OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL.

Melbourne first asserts that the opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal conflicts with this court's decisions in *State v. Johans*, 613 So. 2d 1319 (Fla. 1993); *State v. Slappy*, 522 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1988), and *Reynolds v. State*, 576 So. 2d 1300 (Fla. 1991), and the decisions of other district courts in *Stroud v. State*, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D1155 (Fla. 2d DCA May 12, 1995) and *Jones v. State*, 640 So. 2d 1161 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). Those cases involved the trial court's failure to conduct an inquiry pursuant to *State v. Neil*, 457 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1984). In the instant case, the district court specifically found that the trial court had conducted a *Neil* inquiry. *Melbourne v. State*, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D975 (Fla. 5th DCA April 21, 1995).

Respondent would also point out that even if this court determined that the opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal is in conflict with other decisions, the merits of the issue should not be reached in this case, so Melbourne would not be entitled to any relief. A review of the colloquy between the judge, the prosecutor and defense counsel concludes with defense counsel stating "I have nothing else to say". As the district court noted, Melbourne did not contend below that the reason offered by the prosecution was insufficient. As the record reflects, Melbourne likewise did not raise any further objection at any time prior to the jury being sworn, nor was there any objection to the jury as composed. Thus, the issue was not preserved for review. *Joiner v. State*, 618 So. 2d

174, 176 (Fla. 1993) ("[w]ere we to hold otherwise, Joiner could proceed to trial before a jury he unqualifiedly accepted, knowing that in the event of an unfavorable verdict, he would hold a trump card entitling him to a new trial").

Melbourne next asserts that the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal conflicts with *Boutwell v. State*, 631 So. 2d 1094 (Fla. 1994), where the defendant was convicted of four counts of driving while license suspended causing serious bodily injury from a single driving episode. Article V, Section 3(b)(3) provides that the Florida Supreme Court may review a district court of appeal decision only if it "expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law." In *Reaves v. State*, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986), this court explained:

Conflict between decisions must be express and direct, i.e., it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision. Neither a dissenting opinion nor the record itself can be used to establish jurisdiction.

Further, this Court has held that inherent or so-called "implied" conflict may not serve as a basis for this Court's jurisdiction. *DHRS v. National Adoption Counselling Service, Inc.*, 498 So. 888, 889 (Fla. 1986).

The instant case involves two convictions for DUI manslaughter and one conviction for DUI causing serious bodily injury involving three victims. Thus, it is distinguishable from *Boutwell*, *supra*. Further, as the district court recognized, the case approved by the *Boutwell* court was *Wright v. State*, 592 So. 2d 1123 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), *quashed on other grounds*, 600 So. 2d 457 (Fla. 1992), which expressly upheld four convictions for

DUI causing serious bodily injury while reversing the four convictions for driving with a suspended license causing serious injury. As the district court also noted, this court has found that the legislature has intended that DUI manslaughter be a homicide statute, not an enhancement to DUI. Thus, there is no conflict with *Boutwell*.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, respondent requests this court decline to accept jurisdiction where there is no express and direct conflict.